JUN 2 3 2014

NO. 14-111417-A

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LESLIE NUESSEN Claimant/Appellant

VS.

SUTHERLANDS Respondent/Appellee

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE
APPEALS BOARD FOR THE
KANSAS DIVISION OF WORKERS COMPENSATION

Submitted by:
Michael C. Helbert No. 08646
Helbert & Allemang
519 Commercial Street
PO Box 921
Emporia, KS 66801
mhelbert@helbert-allemang.com
T: 620-343-6500; F: 620-343-1734
Attorney for Claimant/Appellant

#### NO. 14-111417-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LESLIE NUESSEN Claimant/Appellant

vs.

**SUTHERLANDS**Respondent/Appellee

#### AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

## **NATURE OF CASE**

Essentially, this is an appeal on a question of law. This action has been extensively litigated with the underlying Award being appealed to the Court of Appeals which affirmed the decision of the Appeals Board for the Division of Workers Compensation, hereinafter referred to as the Board. See Case No. 110,233 In the Court of Appeals of the State of Kansas. It was after the Board's decision on June 28, 2013 (Board Decision, ROA V. 1 pgs 88-98) in favor of the Claimant/Appellant, that Claimant took the steps that have led to this appeal. The pivotal issue is whether or not there is a "stay" on the payment of a Worker's Compensation Award in death cases where all of the compensation is due and owing at the time of the appeal to the Court of Appeals.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The facts are simple. On June 28, 2013, the Board issued its decision or "final award (ROA V. 1 pgs 88-98). On or about July 1, 2013, a Demand for Compensation was sent by Registered mail to the attorney for the Respondent and the Respondent itself, and the insurance carrier. (ROA V. 1 pgs 99-111) It was and is the contention of Claimant that K.S.A. 44-556 does not provide for a stay of compensation in death cases. That at the time of the demand filed pursuant to K.S.A. 44-556, there was due and owing, \$25,000.00 to the two heirs of the decedent; funeral expenses in the amount of \$5,000.00; all Court costs, and the medical bills in the amount of \$47,744.68. (ROA V. 1 P. 99-111). Counsel for the Respondent and its insurance carrier immediately that

that it would not pay the proceeds contending that K.S.A. 44-556 is not applicable "as there are no weekly benefits to be paid." The Respondent filed an appeal to the Court of Appeals of the State of Kansas which was docketed on or about July 24, 2013. A Request for Penalties was filed on August 12, 2013 by Claimant in conformity with the statute. (ROA V. 1 pgs 113-134). That Request for Penalties was duly heard by Judge Avery and his decision was issued on or about November 5, 2013 (ROA V.1 pgs 157-162). A copy of that Order is made a part of this brief as appendix One. The Respondent then appealed Judge Avery's decision to the Board. The Board's decision was issued on February 24, 2014 (ROA V.1 pgs 199-207). This appeal then followed. A copy of the Board's Decision is made apart of this brief as appendix Two.

## **ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES**

As the Court is aware, the Kansas Supreme Court has made it clear that workers compensation laws are subject to a rule of strict construction. If no stay is statutorily provided, then no stay exists. See *Casco vs Armour Swift-Eckrich* 283 Kan. 508 (2007); *Bergstrom vs Spears Mfg. Co.* 289 Kan. 605, (2009). The general rule of statutory construction is that if the statute is plain and unambiguous, the court must give effect to its express language rather than determine what the law should or should not be. In the case at bar, there is no language indicating that compensation in death case is stayed. In its most recent version, K.S.A. 44-556 does not grant a stay for death cases and, in fact, states that the actions of the Board "shall be subject to review in

accordance with the Kansas judicial review act by appeal directly to the court of appeals." That act can be found at K.S.A. 77-601 et. seq. K.S.A. 77-606 states that "...this act provides the exclusive means of judicial review of agency action."

Generally, that would mean that K.S.A. 77-601 et. seq. would control the conduct of an appeal including any matters pertaining to a stay. K.S.A. 77-616, (ROA V. 1, p 88-207) allows for a stay to be granted *by the agency* during judicial reviews. However, the agency in this case is the Department of Labor, Division of Workers Compensation and it did not stay its Order or Award. (ROA V. 1 p. 1-207).

The Court of Appeals could grant a stay, but no request for a stay has been made by the Respondent and its insurance carrier. See K.S.A. 77-616. The judicial review act specifically requires exhaustion of all administrative remedies. One of those remedies would have been to ask the agency to stay its decision. The Respondent has not done that. However, since there are no stay provisions in the Workers Compensation Statute governing death cases, or in the provisions for the appeal of a death case, then there is no statutory support for a stay. See K.S.A. 44-510 b; K.S.A. 44-556. K.S.A. 77-603 (a) makes it clear that "this act applies to all agencies and all proceedings for judicial review and civil enforcement of agency actions not specifically exempted by statute from the provisions of this act." Emphasis supplied. One's analysis should then look to see if the workers compensation act exempted itself from the provisions of the act in reference to "stays." There is no

language showing such an exemption and, in fact, there is no blanket stay language to be found in the workers compensation act. The negative implication of this statutory language is that if the legislature had sought to exempt workers compensation death claims from K.S.A. 77-603 it would have done so, and if it wanted to stay the payment in death cases, it would have made provisions for such a stay. The legislature is presumed to have expressed its intent through the language of the statute. *Bergstom*, *supra*, *at 607*. Since the clear language of the statute allowing a stay on "weekly" compensation would have no impact on a death case, the negative implication is that the legislature specifically left out any basis for a stay in death cases.

Bergstrom, supra, makes it clear that our courts should not add language that is not readily found in a statute. There is no basis for a stay in workers compensation cases and it would cause the court to "strain" to create a stay where there is no language to permit one.

As Judge Avery indicated in his opinion, the Kansas Supreme Court has addressed this issue. In *Acosta v. National Beef Packing* 273 Kan. 385 (2002), the Supreme Court considered the application for penalties and reviewed the meaning of several pivotal statutes. In particular, the Court found that under K.S.A. 44-512a: "The right to an action under K.S.A 44-512a occurs when an award becomes the final award of the Workers Compensation Board. *An appeal of the award to the appellate courts does not stay the operation of the statute*. Emphasis added. K.S.A. 44-512a is remedial in character and was intended to supplement existing remedies provided in the Workers Compensation Act. Under this remedy, the employer has the choice of protecting his or her vested rights by complying with the terms and requirements of the award until it is set aside, modified, paid or redeemed, or to permit

the worker to invoke the statute.

It is declared public policy of the State that Workers compensation awards shall be promptly paid, and K.S.A. 44-512a is the means selected by the legislature to insure the enforcement. K.S.A. 44-512a applies to all awards and judgments without qualification.

In the case of workers compensation award payments past due and not paid within 20 days of demand, the K.S.A. 44-512a proceeding supersedes the original award. Under K.S.A. 44-556, any party wishing to appeal to the appellate courts has to have made payments when due". See *Acosta, Supra*; (ROA V. 1 p 157 & 158)

K.S.A. 44-512a provides for an action in the district court for civil enforcement of a workers compensation award which has been awarded but not paid when due. The only question to be considered in the action is whether the respondent has failed to pay amounts past due within 20 days of a proper demand pursuant to K.S.A. 44-512a.

The Supreme Court, in essence, found that the "..award became final and the appellants were obliged to pay while seeking any future appeal or review and modification. *See Acosta, supra* at 400-401. The only procedure for obtaining a stay can be found in K.S.A. 44-530 and under K.S.A. 77-616 upon judicial review.

Neither of those avenues were used by the Respondent and no attempt was made to obtain a stay at the Court of Appeals level. See Case No. 110,233 In the Court of Appeal in the State of Kansas. Since K.S.A. 77-601 governs ALL judicial appeals of every administrative agency subject to its provisions, it is clear that K.S.A. 77-601 has preempted the field of judicial review of administrative actions and, if that is true, then logically it follows that a stay must be obtained in conformity with K.S.A. 77-601

et. seq. Further support for that proposition can be found at K.S.A. 77-603 (a) which emphatically states: "this act applies to all agencies and all proceedings for judicial review and civil enforcement of agency actions not specifically exempted by statute from the provisions of this act." Emphasis supplied. Since the Division of Workers Compensation has not been specifically exempted from the provisions of this act, the agency and its actions are subject strictly to the provisions of K.S.A. 77-601.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based on the above and foregoing, penalties should be assessed at the rate of \$100.00 per week for each week after June 28, 2013 and 10% of the outstanding medical bills or the sum of \$4,774.00. (ROA V. 1 Pg 159) In addition, the payment of \$100.00 per week for the non-payment of the funeral bill. (ROA V. 1 pg 159) In addition, attorney fees at the rate of \$200.00 per hour for the post-award prosecution of this matter. The Board's decision should be reversed and the decision of Administrative Law Judge Avery should be affirmed in all respects.

**HELBERT & ALLEMANG**