No. 14-111417-A

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LESLIE NUESSEN

Employee/Appellee

vs.

SUTHERLANDS Employer/Appellant

and

LUMBERMANS UNDERWRITING ALLIANCE

Insurance Carrier/Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE
APPEALS BOARD FOR THE
KANSAS DIVISION OF WORKERS COMPENSATION

Submitted by:

Michael P. Bandre #16556 Hoffmeister, Doherty & Webb LLC 8880 W. 151st Street, Suite 100 Overland Park, Kansas 66221 Tel. 913-653-8004; Fax 653-8010 ATTORNEYS FOR EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

No. 14-111417-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LESLIE NUESSEN

Employee/Appellee

vs.

SUTHERLANDS

Employer/Appellant

and

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves the appeal of an Order issued by the Appeals Board for the Kansas Division of Workers Compensation that denied a request for issuance of penalties. The employee/Appellant in the case is Leslie F. Nuessen, deceased (hereinafter "Nuessen") and the employer/Appellee is Sutherlands and their insurance carrier Lumberman's Underwriting Alliance (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Sutherlands.")

Nuessen was an employee for Sutherlands on December 21, 2010 when he suffered an accident at work that resulted in his death from head trauma. On December 12, 2012, Administrative Law Judge Avery issued an award determining that Nuessen was injured in the course and scope of his employment and awarded death benefits to Nuessen's two adult legal heirs, plus funeral expenses and medical expenses. The Award was timely appealed by Sutherlands to the Board of Appeals. On June 28, 2013, the Board, in a 3-2 decision, affirmed the Award of Administrative Law Judge Avery. Three days later, the heirs filed a Demand for Compensation and subsequently filed a separate Request for Penalties. Sutherlands timely appealed the Order and

Award of the Board of Appeals to the Kansas Court of Appeals.

While the appeal of Sutherlands was pending in the Kansas Court of Appeals, Administrative Law Judge Avery issued a susequent order finding that Sutherlands owed penalties for failure to pay the Award of the Board of Appeals. Sutherlands appealed the Order of penalties to the Board of Appeals. The Board of Appeals vacated the Order for penalties finding that Nuessen's Demand for Compensation was premature and additionally finding that K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 44-556(b) stays payment of compensation due and owing while the Board's Order is on appeal to the Kansas Appellate Courts. Nuessen subsequently filed his appeal of the Board's Order to the Kansas Court of Appeals.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE APPEALS BOARD PROPERLY RULED THAT NUESSEN WAS NOT ENTITLED TO PENALTIES BECAUSE K.S.A. 2010 SUPP. 44-556(b) STAYS PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION DUE AND OWING WHILE THE BOARD'S ORDER IS ON APPEAL TO THE KANSAS APPELLATE COURTS.
- II. WHETHER THE APPEALS BOARD PROPERLY RULED THAT NUESSEN WAS NOT ENTITLED TO PENALTIES BECAUSE HIS WRITTEN DEMAND FOR COMPENSATION WAS PREMATURE.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Leslie Nuessen was employed by Sutherlands in Lyon County, Kansas working in the tool department and on the sales floor. (ROA, V 3, Deposition of Jason Miller, p. 6)

On December 20, 2012, the 68 year old Nuessen, while working at Sutherlands, lost consciousness and fell. Nuessen suffered multiple skull fractures, extensive bilateral subdural hematomas, subarachnoid hemorrhaging and intracranial hemorrhaging which lead to his unfortunate death. (ROA, V8, Deposition of Dr. Bernard Abrams, p. 7)

The family of Nuessen brought a workers compensation claim alleging that Nuessen was injured and died as a result of injuries incurred in the course and scope of his employment with Sutherlands. (ROA, V1, p.1) A regular hearing was held in the claim in front of Administrative Law Judge Bradley Avery. The parties further stipulated that there are two adult children of the decedent, namely Marc Nuessen and Julie Wilson, no surviving spouse and no dependants. The parties agreed that Marc Nuessen is the duly and lawfully appointed Administrator of the estate of Leslie Nuessen. (ROA, V1, Award of

Judge Avery, p. 40)

The parties stipulated that there are medical bills in the amount of \$47,744.68 to treat the injuries of Nuessen and a funeral bill in the amount of \$11,341.40. Sutherlands disputed that Nuessen suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of employment. (ROA, V1, Award of Judge Avery, p. 40)

The Honorable Brad Avery issued an Award in this case on December 7, 2012. In his Award, Judge Avery found that the Claimant's accidental death was the result of an unexplained fall and was, accordingly, compensable as it was a neutral risk event. (ROA, V1, Award of Judge Avery, p. 45) Sutherlands subsequently filed its Application for Review before the Board of Appeals.

The Board of Appeals issued its Order on June 28, 2013. (ROA, V1, Order of the Board of Appeals) The Board, in a 3-2 decision, found that Nuessen fell as a result of a neutral risk and, therefore, his personal injury and resulting death arose out of and in the course of his employment with Sutherlands. (ROA, V1, Order of the Board of Appeals, p. 108)

On July 1, 2013, three days after the issuance of the Order from the Board of Appeals, Nuessen filed a Demand for Compensation. (ROA, V1, p. 99) Sutherlands subsequently filed its Notice of Appeal on July 24, 2013 contesting

the ruling of the majority of the Board. On August 12, 2013, Nuessen filed a Request for Penalties. (ROA, V.1, p. 113) A hearing was held on the Request for Penalties and on November 5, 2013, Administrative Law Judge Avery issued an Order requiring Sutherlands to pay penalties to Nuessen. (ROA, V1, p. 157) Sutherlands appealed the Order to the Board of Appeals. On February 24, 2014, the Board of Appeals issued its Order vacating the Order of penalties issued by Administrative Law Judge Avery. (ROA, V1, p. 199) The Board of Appeals found that Nuessen was not entitled to receive penalties because his written Demand for Compensation was premature and, further, that with the facts of this claim, K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 44-556(b) stayed payment of compensation due and owing while the Board of Appeal's Order was on appeal to the Kansas Appellate Courts. (ROA, V1, p. 206) Nuessen subsequently filed his appeal of this Order to the Kansas Court of Appeals.

Meanwhile, in the initial appeal, the Kansas Court of Appeals issued its

Memorandum Opinion on April 18, 2014 affirming the Order and Award of the

Board of Appeals that Nuessen fell due to a neutral risk and, therefore, his

personal injury and resulting death arose out of and in the course of his

employment with Sutherlands. Sutherlands then paid all awarded benefits

ordered by the Board of Appeals.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The standard of review of an appeal of a decision of the Workers

Compensation Board is well settled under Kansas law and is set out in the

Kansas Judicial Review Act, K.S.A. 77-601. The Board reviews questions of law
and fact. The appellate court reviews questions of law. Whether a decision is
supported by substantial competent evidence is a question of law. The term
substantial evidence refers to such evidence as a reasonable person might
accept as being sufficient to support a conclusion. Herrera-Gallegos v H & H

Delivery Service, Inc., 42 Kan.App 2d 360, 363, 212 P.3d 239 (2009). The
appellate court does not re-weigh the evidence or determine the credibility of
the witnesses. Id.

WHETHER THE APPEALS BOARD PROPERLY RULED THAT NUESSEN WAS NOT ENTITLED TO PENALTIES BECAUSE K.S.A. 2010 SUPP. 44-556(b) STAYS PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION DUE AND OWING WHILE THE BOARD'S ORDER IS ON APPEAL TO THE KANSAS APPELLATE COURTS.

The family of Nuessen brought a workers compensation claim alleging

that Nuessen was injured and died as a result of injuries incurred in the course and scope of his employment with Sutherlands. A Regular Hearing was held in this matter on August 17, 2012. On December 7, 2012, the Honorable Judge Brad Avery issued his Order finding that the Claimant was injured in the course and scope of his employment and subsequently died from the injuries incurred. The Respondent appealed that Order to the Board of Appeals and, on June 28, 2013, the Board issued its Order affirming the decision of Judge Avery by a 3-2 decision. The Board Awarded the Claimant \$25,000 in a lump sum for death benefits and ordered the Respondent to pay medical bills in the amount of \$47,744.68 to treat the injuries of the Claimant and a funeral bill in the total statutory maximum amount of \$5,000.

Sutherlands subsequently timely appealed the decision of the Board of Appeals to the Kansas Court of Appeals. However, on July 1, 2013, only three days after the entry of the Order from the Board of Appeals, the Claimant filed a demand for compensation pursuant to K.S.A. 44-512a and K.S.A. 44-556. On August 7, 2013, the Claimant filed a Request for Penalties in the claim alleging that since all benefits were due and owing, the Claimant was entitled to the issuance of penalties. On September 20, 2013, Judge Avery heard argument on

the Motion for Penalties. The parties subsequently filed briefs in regard to the penalties issues. On November 5, 2013, Judge Avery issued his Order finding that the entire amount assessed by the Court in the underlying claim was due and owing and assessed penalties for failure to timely pay the Award in the amount of \$4,747.76 representing 10% of the unpaid medical bills plus \$1,800 for the lump sum award representing \$100 per week since the issuance of the Award and ongoing penalties of \$100 per week until the Award was paid. The Respondent then timely appealed the Order of Penalties assessed by Judge Avery to the Board of Appeals. On February 24, 2014, the Board of Appeals issued its Order vacating the Order of penalties issued by Administrative Law Judge Avery. (ROA, V1, p. 199) The Board of Appeals found that Nuessen was not entitled to receive penalties because his written Demand for Compensation was premature and, further, that with the facts of this claim, K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 44-556(b) stayed payment of compensation due and owing while the Board of Appeal's Order was on appeal to the Kansas Appellate Courts. (ROA, V1, p. 206) Nuessen subsequently filed his appeal of this Order to the Kansas Court of Appeals.

In his Request for Penalties, the Claimant argues that K.S.A. 44-556 does

not grant a stay for compensation due and owing in death cases. K.S.A. 44-556 states in pertinent part:

- a) Any action of the board pursuant to the workers compensation act, other than the disposition of appeals of preliminary orders or awards under K.S.A. 44-534a, and amendments thereto, shall be subject to review in accordance with the Kansas judicial review act by appeal directly to the court of appeals. Any party may appeal from a final order of the board by filing an appeal with the court of appeals within 30 days of the date of the final order. When an appeal has been filed pursuant to this section, an appellee may file a cross appeal within 20 days after the date upon which the appellee was served with notice of the appeal. Such review shall be upon questions of law.
- (b) Commencement of an action for review by the court of appeals shall not stay the payment of compensation due for the ten-week period next preceding the board's decision and for the period of time after the board's decision and prior to the decision of the court of appeals on review....

The Board of Appeals, in vacating the Award of Judge Avery as to the penalties issue, noted that there were no benefits in the present claim that became due and payable during the ten weeks prior to the Board's Order.

Specifically, the Board of Appeals found that the lump sum payment due to the heirs of \$25,000 plus the medical bills and funeral expenses were all due and payable upon Nuessen's death. Accordingly, no benefits became due during

the ten-week period next preceding the board's decision or for the period of time after the board's decision but prior to the decision of the court of appeals.

Nuessen argues that the plain language of K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 44-556(b) does not grant a stay of payment of compensation in death cases. However, what other meaning could be given to the phrase "any action of the board..." in section a of the statute. Certainly a decision in a death case would fall under the provisions of "any action of the board". With death cases clearly falling under the provisions of K.S.A. 44-556, the next questions is what does the statute intend by the phrase "commencement of an action for review by the court of appeals shall not stay the payment of compensation due for the tenweek period next preceding the board's decision and for the period of time after the board's decision and prior to the decision of the court of appeals on review." If the statute does not stay the payment of any compensation upon appeal, as argued by Nuessen, then the entirety of section b is meaningless. The statute details specific benefits that must be paid upon the pendency of appeal which clearly delineates that benefits not falling in that category do not have to be paid until the appeal is decided.

The Board of Appeals, in its discussion of the case of Acosta v National

Beef Packing Co., 273 Kan. 385, 44 P.3d 330 (2002), noted that in that decision, benefits were due and owing during the ten weeks prior to the Board's award and were due and owing after the award. The Respondent in the Acosta case, in fact, did not even appeal the underlying award of the Board. Instead, it filed a Motion to Review and modify the underlying award. Thus, under K.S.A. 44-556(b), compensation was due and payable within the appropriate time frame and, under 44-556a, no appeal was even filed to support an argument that benefits were stayed. In the present case, if an appeal had not been taken from the decision of the Board of Appeals, all benefits would be due and owing and it would be appropriate to pursue penalties for failure to pay a final award that was not appealed. However, since the appeal was timely pursued by Sutherlands, it is inappropriate to pursue penalties.

The Board of Appeals has looked at this issue on a number of prior occasions since the issuance of the <u>Acosta</u> decision. In the case of <u>Titterington</u>, <u>deceased</u>, <u>v. Brooke Insurance</u>, Docket No. 270,414 (Kan. WCAB Apr. 30, 2004) the Board looked at the issue of what benefits were due and owing during an appeal from the Appeals Board to the Court of Appeals involving a death of an employee working within the course and scope of his employment. In the

Titterington claim, the respondent denied that the Claimant died as a result of injuries occurred in the course and scope of his employment. The ALJ found that the Claimant's death was caused by injuries received within the course and scope of his employment. The matter was appealed to the Board of Appeals.

No benefits were paid at the time of the issuance of an Order by the Board of Appeals (which affirmed the underlying decision of the ALJ) except for weekly death benefits to the Claimant's heirs that came due in the 10 weeks prior to the issuance of the Award and the weekly on-going benefits. However, as in the present claim, the Claimant requested penalties for <u>all</u> benefits due and owing even though the matter was timely appealed to the Court of Appeals.

The Board of Appeals, in <u>Titterington</u>, found that the only benefits due and owing were for the 10 weeks that became due immediately prior to the decision and for the benefits that became due during the appeal to the Court of Appeals. The Board specifically found that the \$40,000 lump sum payment pursuant to K.S.A. 44-510b was controlled by K.S.A. 44-556 and that the stay provisions of the statute would apply.

K.S.A. 44-556 certainly applies to the present claim as was decided by the Board of Appeals and, pursuant to the clear language of the statute, no

benefits were due during the pendency of the appeal. Accordingly, the demand for penalties was in error.

WHETHER THE APPEALS BOARD PROPERLY RULED THAT NUESSEN WAS NOT ENTITLED TO PENALTIES BECAUSE HIS WRITTEN DEMAND FOR COMPENSATION WAS PREMATURE.

The Board of Appeals further ruled that Nuessen's written Demand for Compensation was premature and, accordingly, no penalties should be assessed. In support of its decision, the Board cited the cases of Hallmark v. Dalton

Construction Co., 206 Kan. 159, 476 P.2d 221 (1970) and Michel v. National

Beef Packing Company, Docket No. 270,798 (Kan. WCAB Dec. 6, 2005). In these cases, both the Kansas Supreme Court and the Board of Appeals, in following the precedent set by the Kansas Supreme Court, held that compensation awarded was not due until the time for filing an appeal had expired.

In the present case, Nuessen's Demand for Compensation was filed three days after the issuance of the Board's 3-2 decision and well before the expiration of the thirty day appeal time. Accordingly, even if there was no stay of benefits, which is vigorously disputed as noted above, Nuessen did not

timely file his Demand for Compensation as it was premature.

Nuessen failed to brief or argue this issue. This court has recently affirmed its long-standing rule that an issue not briefed on appeal is deemed waived or abandoned. <u>Cooke v. Gillespie</u>, 285 Kan. 748, 176 P.3d 144 (2008)

CONCLUSION

Nuessen is not entitled to penalties in this case because K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 44-556(b) stays payment of compensation due and owing his heirs while the Board's Order is on appeal to the Kansas Appellate Courts. Further, Nuessen is not entitled to penalties because his written Demand for Compensation was premature.